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A BRIEF HISTORY TO CELEBRATE
 EIGHTY YEARS IN THIS BUILDING
A BRIEF HISTORY OF ST. MARY’S CHURCH, GRANGEMOUTH
The mother church for Falkirk and District was St. Andrew’s Church, Dunmore. This church was built on the site of the original manor house and alongside the Elphinstone Tower, by Catherine, Countess of Dunmore, in 1850. The church was originally for estate workers and for the naval establishment at Throsk, but it gradually became redundant. The last service held there was in 1951; in 1958 the trustees decided to take the roof off, and in 1963 it was demolished. There still remains the graveyard and in the base of the ruined tower there is still the family burial vault (the remains have sadly since been moved elsewhere due to vandalism).

In its heyday, however, the Episcopalian minister endowed by the Countess was an important figure. He led missionary work in the immediate neighbourhood, but also in Falkirk. Starting in 1858, he held services in Bainsford Primary School, moving to Wilson’s Hall opposite the Steeple in 1861 and finally took a leading part in the building of Christ Church, which opened in 1864.

Subsequently, under the guidance of Christ Church, the Episcopalians of Grangemouth came together as a congregation in 1901, holding meetings in the Town Hall until it became possible to set up what became known as the ”Tin Church”. This was a second-hand corrugated iron building bought from the Admiralty for £70 and put up on land granted rent-free by the Marquis of Zetland, at Carronflats Road (on the site of the present Rectory). This served the Grangemouth congregation from 1902 to 1938, when the present stone building was dedicated. In fact the “Tin Kirk” continued to be useful; it served as Church Hall till 1980. After that it was used as Scout Hut for the 64th Stirlingshire Troop until it was dismantled in 1985. Since the church had bought the land in 1978 it was able to do a deal with a property developer whereby the church got rid of the ninety-year old Scout hut and the now unwanted piece of land and acquired in exchange a brand-new Rectory on very advantageous terms. Much of the credit for the astute bargaining involved must go to our Property Convenor at the time, Mr Theo McCulloch.

At the time of the building of the stone church in 1937 - 1938 a lot of donations of money were received along with specific gifts from individual donors such as choir stalls and the carved pulpit. No doubt anything else required to run the church would be taken at this time from the Tin Kirk, including the organ. The total cost of building and equipping the church was £5,000. The foundation stone was laid on 23rd October 1937 and there is an inscription to this effect in the chancel; the finished church was dedicated on 29th July 1938.

It was not until 1947 that the Grangemouth Church became a fully independent incumbency. The role of Christ Church in our history is very important and until this date the church was run by Assistant Clergy from Falkirk, classified as Priest-in- Charge, assisted by Lay Readers. This meant that the overall responsibility for the building project lay with the Rector of Christ Church at the time, the Rev. Ivor St. Clair Ramsay, although in practice the actual burden largely devolved on the Priest in Charge, the Rev. Patrick Douglas Broun who served from 1936 - 41. For some years the ministers serving in Grangemouth had to live in rented accommodation, but this was unsatisfactory. There are tales that at least one incumbent (unmarried) had to flee the attentions of his landlady’s daughter and camp in the church vestry!
By 1947 a permanent rectory had become essential, and the first of which we have a record of was at 20 Oswald Avenue. This was eventually sold (for £2,000) and a larger property was bought in 1962 at 7 Ronaldshay Crescent (for £3,300). This was done specifically to entice applicants during the long vacancy after Rev. Alan Robson left. The Ronaldshay Crescent house remained the Rectory until the present one was ready for occupation in 1985 at Carronflats Road as already noted above.

Although St. Mary’s has been an independent charge since 1947, in times of vacancy and during holidays the services would frequently be taken by clergy loaned from Christ Church and this relationship is much valued.

In addition, the minister has quite often been able to call on the services of a Lay Reader. For many years Mr. Fred Lowe served in this capacity for example. There were, in addition, at least two occasions when the Rector had a paid helper: one was a curate, Mr. B.W. Garman, who served between 1949 and 1952; and one was a female “Congregational Worker”, Miss Anne Gill, who served between 1952 and 1956.

The latter were helpful during the time when St. Mary’s was linked in plurality with St. Andrew’s of Dunmore, that is, from 1947 until the final closing of that church in 1958. No such help was available at first when St. Mary’s was linked with St. Catharine’s of Bo’ness from 1977 onwards in the time of Rev. Jim Mein. Later, however, both churches have benefited greatly from the services of two well-beloved non-stipendiary ministers, the husband and wife team of Rev. Jay Lennard and Rev. Mary Pat Lennard from the early 1990’s onwards. And most recently we have been fortunate to have another Lay Reader, Denis Fitzsimons who now serves at St. John’s, Alloa. These unpaid and selfless workers have been a tremendous asset in a shared charge. Incidentally, the linking with St. Catharine’s was informal to start with, but from 1982 until 2016, the appointment was “Rector of St. Mary’s, Grangemouth and Priest-in-Charge of St. Catharine’s, Bo’ness.”  The present incumbent is now Rector of both St. Mary’s and St Catharine’s – they are linked on an equal standing.
To return to the actual structure of the church, it is worth recording that the site was donated by the Marquis of Zetland and the stone came from his former mansion house. The slates for the roof came from demolished miners’ houses in Standburn. The architect’s plans had originally envisaged an H - shaped building with church and hall parallel to each other and a passage-way with vestry - rooms and toilets linking them; but at the time there was not enough money to build the hall. This was why the Tin Kirk was retained to serve as a hall. In 1980 the Rev. J. Mein organised the construction of a rather smaller hall than originally planned and much of the labouring was done by members of the congregation, with Mr. Harry Taylor and the minister acting as joint Clerks of Work. This provided us with a comfortable hall and kitchen and allowed us to have refreshments after the services.

We have been very fortunate in the clergy who have served us; and we have had good leadership and stability for a long time. Over the last thirty six years we have had only four ministers!

In addition to the new Hall the building of which was organised by Jim Mein we have had new heaters and a new organ in Norman MacCallum’s time and also, of course, the acquisition of our new Rectory. During David Bunyan’s ministry we have had double-glazing installed and the Hall kitchen has been refurbished. A loop system for the hard of hearing,  along with disabled toilet facilities, have also been provided. We also now have the pew runners which make the seating much more comfortable. Some of this has been achieved through work parties and fundraising and some through bequests, but a lot of credit must be given to the vision and organising ability of our ministers.
Finally, although Willie Shaw has been with us for a short time, our church since his arrival has been involved in several new types of bonding with Christ Church and St Catharine’s and also in ecumenical initiatives with other Grangemouth churches such as the opening of a Soup Kitchen.  
From time to time the grounds have been modified for greater ease of maintenance, apart from the big development in 1975 of the Garden of Remembrance. For many years the grounds were maintained by a system of volunteer rosters, but recently the fact that our congregation is smaller and older has rendered this impossible.

Volunteer work however continues to be important. Only lack of space prevents an adequate recognition of the work done by vestries and individual members of the congregation, Sunday school teachers, organists, property-convenors, work parties and various organisations over the many years. A singling out of individual names would be invidious, but their monument is the existence of a comfortable church and well-maintained grounds.

One example of continuing hard work might serve to illustrate that the history of a church is not just the story of its buildings and its clergy. The “Soup and Sandwiches” Group provided a monthly lunch to members of the public from 1995 to 2011. On each occasion a wide variety of delicious and often exotic soups was prepared and the resulting proceeds were used for capital projects. The money acquired was used to pay the bulk of such important purchases as the new organ in 1998 and the refurbishing of the kitchen in 2010.

For more detailed information about the contents of the church please refer to our “Walk Around Guide”.
List of Clergy who have served in the Present Church (from 1938)
Patrick Douglas Broun

(Priest in charge)

1938-1941

Maurice Birchall
 

(Priest in charge)

1942-1944

E.J. Davidson
 

(Priest in charge)

1945-1947

F.N. Towndrow



(Rector)

1947-1951

John H.F. Wilson



(Rector)

1952-1955

John Rodger



(Rector)

1955-1960

Alan Robson



(Rector)

1961-1962

Christopher H. Read


(Rector)

1962-1972

James A. Mein



(Rector)

1972-1982

Norman MacCallum


(Rector)

1982-2000

David R. Bunyan



(Rector)

2000-2013
William J. Shaw



(Rector)
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APPENDICES

Appendix 1 : Note on St. Andrew’s Church, Dunmore
St. Andrew’s Church was built in 1850 and served the family of the Countess of Dunmore, her estate workers and people (including non-Episcopalians) from the surrounding area. In addition the minister was responsible for those working at the naval establishment at Throsk, who met in various temporary buildings. As noted in the main text the minister also held services in Falkirk, beginning in 1858 with Rev. C. Hinxman.

As the estate declined the incumbent’s work increasingly centred on Throsk, and the Dunmore building became redundant. Eventually in 1951 St. Andrew’s ceased to function, and in 1952 responsibility for Throsk was transferred to the clergy in Stirling. The church records clearly show the gradual decline:

Confirmations 
(1852—1950) last in the church, June 1939

Baptisms

(1851—1951) last in the church, January 1951

Marriages 

(1851—1949) last in the church, March 1949

Burials 

(1851—1951) last in churchyard, July 1950
(It is interesting that the last person baptised is currently a member of St. Mary’s, and the last person buried was the father of the naval lieutenant in whose memory was placed the big rood over the chancel steps in  St. Mary’s.)

From 1938—1947, St. Andrew’s was administered by the Rector of Christ Church, and from 1947 to the end by the Rector of St. Mary’s. As noted in the main text, almost everything that could be used had been removed by 1958 and the building subsequently had its roof removed and was allowed to fall into ruin.

Before and even after the War, there were occasional special services held in St. Andrew’s, attended by groups from St. Mary’s. There was no electricity and the lighting came from candelabras. Apparently these held 90 candles! This, and the romantic setting in the middle of the country surrounded by fields and woods, made services a magical experience.
List of clergy who served in St. Andrew’s, Dunmore
Rev. C. Hinxman





1851-1861

Rev. W. H. Cave Browne



1862-1876

Rev. Henry Sandwich




1876-1877

Rev. J. G. Sutcliffe




1879-1900

Rev. Alfred Griffiths




1900-1902

Rev. Walter Scott





1902-1906

Rev. George Grub




1906-1917

Rev. Hugh Jones





1917-1938
Christ Church &
)
Ivor E. St. Clair Ramsay
1938-1944

St. Andrew’s
)
G.E. Martineau


1944-1947
St. Mary’s

)
F.N. Towndrow


1947-1951

     &


)
John H.F. Wilson


1952-1955

St. Andrew’s
) 
John Rodger


1955-1960
Appendix 2 : Note on the “Tin Kirk”
As noted in the main text, the Tin Kirk was erected in Carronflats Road in 1902. It was a fair size and at that time had a congregation of about 150. It had seating for 170 and stalls for a choir of 24. It had a timber frame and was clad in corrugated iron sheets. Many prefabricated buildings of this sort were put up all over the world and there is a very similar building in Zimbabwe which is pointed out as the oldest European building in the country and was erected in 1900.

At one end there was a low stage just one step up and this could be used for the officiating minister and choir during services, but obviously for theatrical performances too. The church was always cold and draughty in the winter. According to one minister it was the coldest church he had ever experienced and water in a bowl on the altar often froze during the Communion.

All organisations used the Tin Kirk as their hall and it was normal in winter for everybody to huddle on the stage with heaters going and the stage-curtains closed for extra warmth. Towards the end of its life it required a lot of maintenance for which working parties were organised. There was an ambitious overhaul for example in the early seventies where a working party lifted the entire floor and turned all the planks unused side up. It made sweeping the floor much easier! For many people over several generations the Tin Kirk held happy memories but it must have been a great relief when the stone church was built in 1938 and later the hall was put up in 1980. As noted in the text it was used as a Scout Hut until 1985 when it was finally dismantled.
List of clergy (Priests in Charge) serving in the Tin Kirk

Rev. H.F. Plant




1902-1904

Rev. T.J. Hollands



1913-1917

Rev. R.J .Newell




1917-1918

Rev. A. Gray-Buchanan


1919-1920

Rev. F. Matthews




1921-1923

Rev. H.J.G. Fleming



1923-1925

Rev. L.V. Courtney



1925-1927

Rev. G.S. Wade




1927-1929

Rev. C. Glennie




1930-1935

Rev. J.W. Heatlie




1935-1936

Rev. P.D. Broun




1936-1938
Appendix 3 : The “Interegnum”2013 – 2016

The period between the retirement of Revd David Bunyan (Sept 2013) and the institution of the Revd Willie Shaw (Sept 2016) was the longest interregnum in our church’s history.
During these years the Vestry managed to hold the congregation together, maintain the fabric, and administer the finances of the church, with guidance from Revd Ruth Innes (Rector at Christ Church) and Revd William Shaw who spent nearly a year as our interim locum priest.

In addition there was much appreciated pastoral assistance from

Revd Richard Percival

Revd Isabel Dowlen

Revd Tim Tunley

And Lay Readers

Janet McKinnell

David James

Ian Young

It is worth noting that during the interregnum there were several important achievements:-  

a) With the help of Revd Ruth Innes and contributions from the congregation a profile was produced;
b) The Rectory was completely refurbished;
c) The Quinquennial report was completed;

d) There were three AGM`s

e) Vestry produced job description and Vestry packs for elected members
f) A new dishwasher was installed in the kitchen

g) And finally, the constitution was altered to spell out clearly the terms of linking between ourselves and St Catharine`s Church Bo`ness.
Years








